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Abstract
It is perceived that any new morphology of land development, built form and urban features in an ethniehub attracts visitors and consumers. Since the 1990s there has been a significant change in Australian consumer behaviour with an increase in time and money spent in ethniehubs. Little attention has been paid to the role of consumers in ethniehubs on the ethnies’ incomes generation. Furthermore, there is still a lack of research in urban design regarding the role of migrants’ place-making in shaping land development in ethnoburbs. Therefore, this study is important in filling the current gap. For this Sydney-based study, the Leichhardt ethniehub with its strong Italian built-form and urban features is used for data collection.
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Introduction
In analysing the Leichhardt ethniehub spatial differentiation, this paper uses an approach based on subjectivity and tries to analyse the world through perceived experience, not as physical reality.

An ethniehub is a place where can be found land development, constructed built form and urban features all relating to the daily life of ethnic migrants. The place is the suburban commercial business district where the majority of the businesses are owned and run by the ethnie. An ethniehub usually exists in an ethnoburb (Widhyastuti 2005).
The term ‘ethnoburb’ is used to explain a new model of ethnic settlement, especially the Chinese ethnoburb of Los Angeles. It was defined by Wei Li as suburban ethnic clusters of residential and business districts in large American metropolitan areas (Li 1998). The term ethnoburb in this paper refers to the geographical area of the suburban ethnic settlement and business district of the Leichhardt municipality.
An ethnie as described by Anthony D Smith means an ethnic community which forms a social group whose members share a sense of common origins, claim a common and distinctive history and destiny, and possess one or more distinctive characteristics. The group members also feel a sense of collective uniqueness and solidarity (Smith 1991). 
Figure 1 shows that the Leichhardt area is located in the inner west suburb of the city of Sydney, it is an area covering about 12 square kilometres and is a seemingly shapeless tract of suburban Sydney. Its southern limits stretch from Blackwattle Bay along Wattle and Bay Streets and then follow Parramatta Road for about four kilometres to Long Cove Creek (Hawthorne Canal). From there an imaginary line drawn in a northerly direction marks its westernmost extremity. The northern physical boundaries of the municipality are the harbour waterfrontages of Leichhardt, Balmain, Annandale and Glebe. 
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Figure 1. The municipality of Leichhardt, an inner west suburb of Sydney

Leichhardt nowadays functions as a central business district and has some of the features of an Italian enclave. Most of the Italian business people of Leichhardt commute from their homes outside the municipality. Leichhardt is an Italian cluster of workplaces only.

Perceived Leichhardt Ethniehub

The usefulness of perception studies became widely known in the early 1960s after the publications of papers by Lowenthal and Kirk (Lowenthal 1960 and Kirk 1963). The interest in perception studies has been supported by a new school of thought within geography. This school (which derives from the phenomenological tradition of Husserl, Edmund, 1938), considers the experiential ‘sense of place’ related to different urban environments as being the central part of urban studies.

People’s perceptions of the Leichhardt ethniehub create images and mental maps, which are the outcome of a process. In this process different individuals will respond differently in interpreting the physical environment of Leichhardt. Each individual will perceive the Leichhardt ethniehub according to own personal experience and values and will produce a simplified mental map of the Leichhardt real world.

However it is reasonable to assume that some aspects of reality will be imagined in a similar way by large groups of people because of similarities in their socialising process, and in their experiences, both past and in the present Leichhardt ethniehub. The study of the perceived environment is still a new one and therefore cannot explain precisely  how people imagine the Leichhardt ethniehub, what form the Leichhardt geography takes in their minds and to what extent this is related to reality. For the moment only assumptions can be made because existing work does not have a theoretical background. It is however clear that people do not have a single perception or mental map.  It seems that people’s minds create different images according to particular behavioural tasks.

In relation to this it is possible to distinguish between two different aspects of people’s imagery:

· The designative aspect and

· The appraisive aspect.

The appraisive aspect of imagery relates to how people feel when in a place, rather than what they perceive. The appraisive imagery is reflected by the attractiveness or otherwise of Leichhardt. When being in a place or thinking about it, some kind of feeling is evoked in our minds, this is what constitutes appraisive imagery. The application of  Knox theory to the desirability of Leichhardt is based on three evaluative dimensions (Knox 1982): 

(1) The impersonal environment, reflecting the physical attributes of Leichhardt, 

(2) The interpersonal environment, reflecting the social attributes of Leichhardt and 

(3) The location attributes of Leichhardt. The evaluative dimensions concern aesthetics, and are aspects related to community, noise safety and accessibility. 

If we apply Lee’s typology in the Leichhardt community (Knox 1982), we find that:

· The social relationships within the Leichhardt community, relate to ties of kinship,
· The homogeneity of the Leichhardt community relates to the physical aspects of the environment as well as to the similarities between people,
· The unit of the Leichhardt community relates to the physical infrastructure concepts of territory.

The Establishment of Leichhardt

By 1833 European settlement in Leichhardt had begun. The territory that embraced Leichhardt belonged to the ‘Wangal’ clan (Solling and Reynolds 1997). As can be seen in Table 1 and Figure 2, Leichhardt was established with the subdivision of land grants between 1789 and 1821. There were at least 11 grants; totalling 952 acres where most of the original grantees did not occupy the land they received. In the 1844 at least 14 substantial buildings had been constructed in the Leichhardt estate. 
	Table 1 Land grants in the Leichhardt area

	Grantee
	Year
	Area (acres)

	Moore, M
	1810
	16

	Prentice, J
	1794
	100

	Thomas, W
	1810
	38

	Piper, H
	1811
	270

	Piper, J
	1811
	165

	Biggers, T
	1794
	30

	Darbyshire, J
	1819
	30

	Austen, J
	1819
	100

	Butler, L
	1819
	100

	Lloyd, F
	1819
	50

	Ralph, L
	1821
	50
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Figure 2. Leichhardt was established with a subdivision of land grants in the 1789
In the early days, Leichhardt was commonly known as “Piperstown’ or ‘Piperston’ after one of the larger tracts of land granted to Captain John Piper, a migrant from Britain (Leichhardt Municipal Council 2001). In 1840 the area was called Petersham. In 1847 Beames bought the land grant from the Piperston estate and in 1849 a prominent Sydney British businessman bought it. He named the area ‘Leichhardt Township’. It was named in honour of a Prussian born naturalist, Friedrich Wilhelm Ludwig Leichhardt, who went exploring in the northern Queensland in 1848 and was never seen again. 

Leichhardt was one of Sydney’s neighbourhoods within a radius of 5 km of the city centre; it was the arena for change. The shape and character of its landscape altered dramatically as empty land developed into housing estates (Solling and Reynolds 1997). The area was populated by new migrant settlers, and by 1901 Leichhardt had a density of 14.9 people per acre. At that time Glebe had the highest population density of 36.9 persons per acre (Solling and Reynolds 1997).
Leichhardt and Layers of Ethnies’ Landscape of Development Before WWI

The historical process that formed Leichhardt’s suburban landscape lasted about 200 years. The ethniehub that we see today is composed of many layers and each layer represents a period in the history of the suburb. Therefore it would be appropriate to study the landscape of Leichhardt from a historical perspective. 

In this way we can see how the landscape was created. But in order to understand the landscape better, it will be necessary to relate these ideas and the people associated with them to the appropriate chronology. In such a way we can classify features of landscape in layers of history (Meinig 1979). 

Immigrants from Britain and Ireland shaped the social and physical landscape of Leichhardt in the nineteenth century. Their houses, hotels and churches reflected many of the characteristics of Britain, and much of Leichhardt’s social life was derived from associations that immigrants brought with them (Crowley 1954).

A variety of shops appeared in the 1880s along Parramatta Road between Elswick and Norton Streets: the Bongiorno brothers’ fruiterers, a hatter, a boot-importer, a newsagent, the watchmaker Maurice Fienberg, two confectionery stores, a draper, the butchers Wilson & Franklin, the baker John Marker, the tobacconist Francis Alexander and the chemist Harrie Brothwood. The Elswick Hotel, on the corner of Parramatta Road and Rofe Street, began trading in 1882; the publican, John Whiting, was also the proprietor of a boiling-down works and a local alderman (Solling and Reynolds 1997). Provision was made within the subdivision for corner shops – an integral part of domestic retailing. 
The first Italians to settle in Leichhardt, in about 1885, were the fishmonger Angelo Pomabello carpenter Luigi Viega, Rofe Street residents Angelo di Laurense and Andrea Fontana, and Parramatta Road fruiterers the Bongiorno brothers, near whose shop could be found Oreste Vicenzini ‘Teacher of piano and any description of Band instruments and Theory’ (Giovenco 2000). Stationer John Bernasconi of Renwick Street appeared in the directory in 1889 and accountant Joseph Corti resided in Norton Street in 1894. Others with Leichhardt addresses were Antonio Rubino, Hugh Pedrotta and Albert Farmilio (Solling and Reynolds 1997).

Building activity slowed in the 1890s, though there were three subdivisions, and levels of house-building activity fluctuated from Federation up to the outbreak of war (Solling and Reynolds 1997). Between 1881 and 1890, 426 blocks on the Excelsior subdivision were sold and it was not uncommon for three terrace houses to be squeezed on to a 40-foot allotment.  Many of the occupants of a variety of predominantly brick buildings (600 in all in 1890) that filled the estate’s ten streets were of solid migrants’ working classes, though there was a fair representation of lower middle-class folk. Along Norton Street and Renwick Street especially, can be seen in Figure 3 some fine examples of one and two storey houses designed by the architects Thornley & Smedley, some of which Victorian Filigree in style and others Victorian Italianate.
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Figure 3. Victorian Filigree (top) and Victorian Italianate
Estate agent George Pile, a British migrant, was able to use his considerable political influence to persuade the Secretary for Public Works John Lackey to extend tram tracks the full length of Norton Street. By 1884, with trams servicing the estate, land sales rose noticeably (Solling and Reynolds 1997). Another attraction was the Petersham railway station located within easy walking distance (Leichhardt Municipal Council 2001).
William Whaley Billyard, an Irish immigrant and a speculator, bought a 42-acre tract of land bounded by Norton, Allen, Elswick, and Marion Streets. He named the estate Whaleyborough. Its wide streets, northerly aspect and generous 50-foot frontage building plots, with depths of about 142 feet, made the estate a more desirable precinct than the Excelsior Company development. Though it was ideal for freestanding cottages, a mixture of housing types appeared on the subdivision’s 213 blocks. In Marlborough Street two or three terrace houses were squeezed on to single allotments and the terrace became the predominant building type in Norton Street. Separate single-storey brick cottages could be found throughout the estate (Solling and Reynolds 1997). The Billyard’s subdivision became an excellent location for local institutions. In 1883 could be found a modest Methodist chapel, appeared in Cromwell Street. In 1884 the much grander All Souls’ Church, designed by Blacket & Son, was built on the corner of Norton and Marion Streets. A police station in Marlborough Street dates from about 1885 (Solling and Reynolds 1997).

Figure 4 shows the Leichhardt Town Hall, opened on 26 September 1888, and 5,000 people came to celebrate. The construction of the building was at significant cost to the ratepayers of Leichhardt. The building alone cost 5,600 pounds and the site about half of this amounts (Solling and Reynolds 1997). The Town Hall was not only the centre of local administration but also a venue for meetings of odd fellows and masons, concerts and bazaars, and for an array of other activities (Solling and Reynolds 1997).
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Figure 4. Leichhardt Town Hall 
There were several building and land companies, run by migrants’ who took an interest in any pieces of farmland in Leichhardt. The Anglo-Australian Investment & Finance Company developed in two stages, the Helsarmel Estate, some 92 acres of indifferent country on the western edge of Leichhardt. Some 564 allotments were pegged out in the first portion of 61 acres in 1884, and the streets that were formed bore the given names and surnames of the company directors. The remaining 31 acres embraced Falls, Flat, Fairlight, Recreation, Wharf and Cove Streets, and the 318 lots were offered for sale from 1888. Land and the whole estate sold slowly and only 116 houses consisting of 59 timber houses, 56 brick and 1 stone house had been built by 1889. Much of the poorly drained land near Iron Cove remained unattractive to buyers until reclamation work began in 1904 and the Hawthorne Canal was built (Solling and Reynolds 1997).

Other migrant building companies, as well as the Anglo-Australian Investment & Finance Company, featured prominently in estate development in Leichhardt. Between 1882 and 1915 the Haymarket Permanent Land Building & Investment Company developed the Bellevue, Town Hall, Whiting and Verdun estates, about 224 building allotments in all, and the Inter-Colonial Investment Land & Building Co. Ltd, operating at a similar time and on a comparable scale, was involved in the building up of four parcels of land, including the Tram Terminus subdivision and part of Flood’s estate (Solling and Reynolds 1997).

Leichhardt After the World War I
Italian chain migration to Sydney started in the 1920s, most of it concentrated in the inner-city area of Leichhardt (Burnley 1985). The majority came from the island of Lippari, Sicily, Vicenza and Udine (Ware 1988). The post-war migratory chains strengthened these communities. Leichhardt had 6,000 Italian-born residents by 1961 (Burnley 1985). In Leichhardt the first families were a mixture of Trevisani, Friulians, Eolians and Catanians (Pascoe 1992).

Italian settlement also increased, especially in the western and southern areas of Sydney. The nature of their employment also shifted from the primary sector to manufacturing, construction and transport. This change was followed by an increase in land-use and land values. For instance many market gardens became residential areas as Calabrians and Sicilians settled in Fairfield, making the largest Italian community in New South Wales (Castles 1992).

The character of Leichhardt was reshaped by immigrants after the 1939 – 1945 war. As some of the working class abandoned their traditional strongholds, their place was increasingly being taken by people from continental Europe, mainly Italy, attracted by Leichhardt’s cheap housing and proximity to unskilled work and factory jobs (Castles et al. 1992).

The primary settlement in Leichhardt expanded out into the western suburbs. This advancing line of settlement made its way through underprivileged suburbs where more affordable housing could be found and rebuilding was manageable. These Italians separated themselves from Sydney’s other ethnic groups, and within those enclaves divided themselves further along class lines. There were four steps in the development of their settlements. The first stage was a kind of ‘backward linkage’ that was the temporary accommodation of bachelors in the flats and boarding houses close to the city. There were about 6000 residents in 1961, but by 1976 this had declined to 1000. The second stage was the ‘forward linkage’ from Leichhardt into older suburbs such as Marrickville, Drummoyne and Ashfield. This process reached its peak in the late 1960s. The third stage was the movement into Canterbury, Bankstown and Ryde. This stage peaked around the mid 1970s. The movement west continued until it amalgamated with the pre-war rural settlement of Fairfield (Castles 1992).
Leichhardt after World War II

There was much Italian migration before and after the Second World War. In 1945 the Capuchin Fathers came to Leichhardt and were given the parish of St Fiacre (Valente 1977). The Capuchins assisted Italian migrants with their housing and employment, as well as with sponsorship, the finding of proxy brides and the establishment of a distinctively Christian Democratic ethnic press. Their social and religious committees were engaged in fundraising and organised dances, and sporting teams, picnics and screening Italian films (Valente 1977). St. Fiacre’s became a unifying influence and a focus for Italian life in Leichhardt. Those who went to the missionary centre found friendship, guidance, moral and material support and a haven for a number of village saints unrecognised by local Australian parishes. Church attendance, however, increased with the celebration of Christmas, Easter, and on particular feast days and patron-saint days with their associated festivities (Solling and Reynolds 1997).

Between 1954 and 1961 Leichhardt was both a reception centre and transit camp for Italian migrants, as the number of Italian-born grew dramatically from 1,493 to 4,566. Dozens of interrelated families clustered together in a neighbourhood and an institutional structure slowly emerged to sustain this Italian residential concentration (Solling and Reynolds 1997).

A wide variety of Italian businesses was operating in Leichhardt by 1962. There were seven Italian-born fruit vendors, six real estate and travel agents, six grocers, five restaurants, four cafes, four social/sport clubs, three barbers and three hairdressers, two boot makers, two butchers, two tailors, two pharmacies, a cake shop, bakery, service station, jeweller, music shop and the San Remo night club. Expanding Italian enterprise led to the revival of the Leichhardt Chamber of Commerce in 1963 but few Italians joined (Burnley 1981).

A high turnover rate in Leichhardt housing between 1959 and 1966 saw established real estate agents, Gallagher, Taylor and Hooker employ Italian-speaking staff, and new Italian real estate agents Montano La Casa and Compagnon make their mark in the industry. The active local real estate market stimulated the emergence of offices at the southern end of Norton Street occupied by solicitors, tax consultants, business agents and accountants (Valente 1977).

The growing number of Italians in Leichhardt up to the 1970s saw an expansion of Italian-run businesses in Leichhardt to meet their requirements. This expansion started as early as 1958 (Burnley 1981). Italian-speaking professionals were also represented. By the mid-late 1970s, professional services were set up by second generation Italian Australians who had gained qualifications locally (Leichhardt Council 2001).

Parramatta Road from the 1950s to the late 1960s was reportedly one of the three highest turnover shopping strips in the city of Sydney. It attracted the patronage of the wider local community, but was also an ethniehub for shopping with both local and non-local Italian-born in the period up to the late 1960s and beyond. Italians in business in Leichhardt in the 1950s and 1960s more frequently leased rather than owned their shops. When the boom in the Parramatta Road retail cycle began to decline in the late 1960s, more Italians were able to buy retail properties (Leichhardt Council 2001). The larger turnover businesses such as the estate agents and grocery/delicatessen stores tended to be owned by Italian-born who had emigrated in the pre-war period. The high percentage of Italian businesses in the local real estate market in the period 1959-1966 was the trigger for a subsequent expansion at the southern end of Norton Street of professionals in the areas of law, accountancy and taxation (Valente 1977).

In 1976 there were 175 Italian-run businesses operating in the Leichhardt area, located along a two-kilometre stretch of Parramatta Road on both the Leichhardt and Stanmore/Petersham sides of the road and in Norton Street. The intersection of Parramatta Road and Norton Street with its adjacent Italian businesses and services became an important icon for the many thousands of Italian who settled in metropolitan Sydney (Burnley 1995). Only a small number of these businesses catered exclusively to the Italian community or sold solely Italian products. There was interaction between the Italian and Australian business communities. At this time three were Italian-born members of the Westgate Chamber of Commerce, the local business association linked with Leichhardt and the Parramatta Road strip from Camperdown to Taverner’s Hill. The Chamber created a network of different kinds of businesses and associations and encompassed also professional services and clubs (Leichhardt Council 2001).

In the later 1960s, the economic downturn in the Parramatta Road shopping strip meant that Italian businesses were able to consolidate as shops were sold and property prices began to decrease. By the later 1970s the commercial focus had begun to shift towards Norton Street. However, the Italian presence in small business continued along Parramatta Road, on both sides of the thoroughfare. By the mid 1990s, however, the situation for Italian-run businesses in Parramatta Road had become almost untenable (the Sun Herald 1995). Some Italian-born business people who had lived in or near Leichhardt for a period up to the late 1960s, especially in the early days of their business, moved on to other suburbs. So did their customers. Haberfield and Five Dock were among the suburbs chosen for larger houses and bigger blocks of land as families grew in size (Burnley 1981).

From the 1970s to the 1980s, however, established services as well as continuing small businesses went on attracting an Italian-born clientele to Leichhardt. Those who no longer lived in the suburb frequently returned for banking and other professional services and to that extent continued as regular customers of the Italian-run businesses in Parramatta Road and Norton Street. The Italian quota of business at the major banks in Leichhardt was high, and while the banks were well represented in Leichhardt, other businesses benefited (Leichhardt Council 2001).
Land Development and  Italian place-making in the Leichhardt Ethniehub
Some of the Italian-run businesses established in the 1950s and early 1960s are still flourishing today. Some businesses have remained on the same site, and some are now in the hands of second generation family members.
Continuity of family names also characterises professional services in contemporary Norton Street. Lapaine and Bolzan’s legal practice, now known as Lapaine and Pomare, has operated in Norton Street since 1960. The solicitors Nesci and Romano at 39-45 Norton Street, much more recent arrivals, have a second-generation profile. Silvano Pomare, brother of the solicitor, has practiced in Leichhardt as a dentist for twenty years and is at 44 Norton Street. The doctors’ surgery at 36 Norton Street, Montanari and Sassi, has been in business continuously since 1965. In spite of a trend of relocation of Italian-run businesses to areas such as Haberfield and Five Dock in response to the location and relocation of their clientele, Leichhardt has retained a special, ongoing significance in the history of Italian-run businesses and services in Sydney (Leichhardt Municipal Council 2000).
In 1951 – 1952 Carmelo Scarcella set up a watchmaking and watch repair business at 12 Norton Street, next to the Italian shoemaker, Tony Milazzo at 12a Norton Street, Norton Footwear, is still a shoe repair businesses today. There was reportedly a shoe repair business on the site of 12 Norton Street as early as 1916. The Milazzo family connection with a shoe and boot repair business at this address dates to the mid-1930s and was of considerable longevity. It is possibly the oldest retail site in Norton Street with continuous Italian connection and a continuing business type.
Other old Italian businesses are cafes, there are two old Italian-style coffee shops in Leichhardt. Café Sport at 2a Norton Street, established in 1956 and Bar Italia at 169 Norton Street, established in 1959. There are some more old Italian-run businesses in Leichhardt as can be seen in the Appendix A.
Contemporary place-making by Italian migrants in Leichhardt is exemplified by the presence of The Italian Forum. The construction of the built form was part of an extensive commercial and residential redevelopment of a block in Norton Street in the second half of the 1990s. Figure 5 shows that the Italian-style eateries and restaurants in the Forum piazza have created a space that could only be described as Italian in inspiration and realisation. The idea for the Forum, firstly mooted in the late 1980s changed considerably over time. The land previously owned by the Water Board, was donated by the New South Wales State Government to the Italian community as a Bicentennial gift. A forum plan by Romaldo Giurgola, the renowned Italian-born architect of the Federal Parliament, was never realised. Nor were the cultural facilities that the terms of the land handover set out. The cultural aspects of the development, in the form of a new Leichhardt Municipal Library and an Italian cultural centre, had not come to fruition by 2001 (Leichhardt Council 2001). Today, however, the Leichhardt library is open for the public on the ground floor of the Forum. It is open all day on week days and half days on weekends. The Italian culture centre functions as a place to express Italian culture and routinely organises festivals in the Forum. 
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Figure 5. The Italian Forum Leichhardt
The Italian migrants also introduced the custom of ‘passegiata’ into this suburb and Sydney city in general. This activity involves promenading with the family in the evenings. After the siesta and dinner, families walk into the town square or piazza and have a gelato, a coffee or a glass of vino. This passegiata would not be complete without a pizza, bowl of pasta, gelato and a glass of wine. One can find all these in Norton Street and the Italian Forum, which now have 30 new cafes more than in the 1960s. Today annual Italian festivals and events take place in Leichhardt. For example the Norton Street or Spring Festival is held over three days in September. The inaugural Norton Street regatta on Saturday the 7th of September 1995 featured a range of colourful bottomless boats entries come from local restaurants, hotels and the Leichhardt fire station. Thirty waiters and waitresses juggled trays of hot drinks along a 30 m course in the Leichhardt Cappuccino Cup (Glebe 1995).
Discussion
Leichhardt developed first with land grants, then subdivision and later with commercialisation of land development. It grew to accommodate large numbers of international immigrants, mainly after World War II. To understand the growth of Leichhardt and its pattern of land sub-division and development it is therefore necessary to consider both the external connections to suburban development and the internal processes whereby particular aspects of growth are managed by the actions of local intermediary institutions and individual actors. Analyses of Leichhardt suburban development which examine suburban growth purely at the level of capitalist accumulation, as does much political economy writing, and thus at the level of Leichhardt’s position within the capitalist system, fail to fully appreciate the extent to which local political and social conflicts and processes have modified and adapted the general processes of capitalist development.

The central role of Leichhardt within capitalist development arises from the fact that under capitalism space itself becomes a commodity which can be transferred from one owner to another through some form of payment (Gidden 1982). Associated with this marketing of space is the development of a created environment of buildings and open spaces which constitutes the physical form of the ethniehub. The buildings of the ethniehub, its houses, public facilities and factories are thus commodities to be bought and sold via the market place.

The distribution and exchange of land and property in Leichhardt within a capitalist society is predominantly through the mechanism of the market place. This mechanism, however, is regulated within a context provided by state and federal government policies and regulations. If we apply Neutze’s (1977) observation into land subdivision in Leichhardt, we see that the area is shaped by a number of markets, especially the property market run by migrant companies which allocates a minimal amount of space. 

If we apply Weber’s perspective in the development of the Leichhardt ethniehub, it can be seen that the process of ethniehub development that occurred was not in any sense a natural, spontaneous process but one which was shaped by institutions and individual agents and it has worked to confer differential advantages upon the ethniehub dwellers. An analysis of the urban development process by Neutze identifies in addition to the historical and physical influences four key influences upon the development process. These are commercial firms, developers, government services and land use planning.
The property market in Leichhardt, however, is not homogeneous and can be seen as comprising at least three sub-markets relating to commercial, industrial and domestic property. The commercial sub-market is concerned with the allocation of public facilities, retail and entertainment buildings. The industrial sub-markets are concerned with factories and industrial plant, and the residential sub-markets arise from the varied nature of their growth and patterns of financial support. The migrants’ place-making and the way migrants use the ethniehub have a very close relationship to the property market in Leichhardt
Conclusion
In summary, the outward growth of the Leichhardt ethniehub has been shaped by land development in accommodating the migrants place-making, especially that of Italian migrants in the last decade, The migrant developers are perceived to have a slightly more important role as initiators of schemes and they can thus have some impact upon the shape of the growth of the Leichhardt ethniehub. However, Neutze (1978) raises the question of whether they follow established patterns and trends in growth to meet consumer preferences or whether they actively take a lead and so assist in the shaping and reinforcing of these preferences.
The land development industry in Leichhardt is perceived as highly dependent on the other industries and on the migrants’ agents such as financiers, entrepreneurs, planners and builders. It is  an industry for which there are no particular qualifications denoting the individual’s professional expertise, and in fact the boom periods have been times when a wide variety of migrants’ people have been attracted into the industry in the hope of making money rapidly. This is as true of the residential market as it was of the commercial market where almost all the property millionaires of the 1960s began with very little capital of their own (Ambrose 1975). The boom years of 1966-1973 saw the number of developers and of development companies’ increase significantly in order to take advantage of the rapidly rising residential land values. This migrants’ place-making involvement in development has stimulated the formation of the Leichhardt ethniehub.
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Appendix A
Italian ethniehub refers to the Leichhardt suburban business district where land development, the constructed built form and urban features relating to the daily life of Italian migrants are to be found. It consist of:

1. 2 Norton Street, Bar Via Veneto

2. 2a Norton Street, Café Sport

3. 3 Norton Street,  Vince's Continental Hair Stylist, Barber
4. 9 Norton Street, Ana & Aldo Trattoria

5. 10 Norton Street, Al Dieci Leichhardt Deli

6. 12 Norton Street, Scarcella & Son, Watchmaker
7. 12a Norton Street, Norton Footwear, Shoemaker
8. 13 Norton Street,  Trevi's Italian Restaurant, Café/Restaurant
9. 15-19 Norton Street, A. O'Hare Funerals, Funeral Directors
10. 23 Norton Street, The Italian Forum was built in 1999. It is a huge complex of shops, restaurants, cafes and units (flats or apartments). The Forum built around an enormous central plaza complete with fountains, is said to resemble the typical piazza of Italy. This is an unusual development as it really feels as if the builders and planners wanted to put up something to be seen and experienced. 
11. 26 Norton Street, Arsenis Pharmacy, Pharmacy
12. 30 Norton Street, Buona Sera Italian Restaurant
13. 31 Norton Street, Bar Baba, Café/Restaurant
14. 35 Norton Street, Pelosi & Associates Solicitors
15. 36 Norton Street, Doctors.Montanari & Sassi 
16. 40 Norton Street, Feet First, Podiatrist
17. 9/39-45 Norton Street,  Casa Adamo, Italian Menswear
18. 44 Norton Street,   Silvaro Pomare, Dentist
19. 44 Norton Street, Norton Law, Group Solicitors
20. 46 Norton Street, Cathy Cifelle, Accountant
21. 47 Norton Street, Café Moretti, Café/Rest
22. 54 Norton Street,  La Galleria Pizza/Rest
23. 56 Norton Street,  Rosemary Giuriato, Chiropractor
24. 60 Norton Street, Ricci Hair & Beauty, Beauty Salon & Hairdresser
25. 64-66 Norton Street, Medical Centre 
26. 67 Norton Street, Casa d'Italia, Computer Outlet
27. 78 Norton Street, Cello, Hairdresser
28. 80 Norton Street,  Chicco d'oro, Café
29. 90 Norton Street,  DL Ranneri & Associates, Accountants
30. 92-94 Norton Street, La Fiamma Newspapers/Radio Station. This Italian newspaper founded in April 1947, is now printed three times a week for a readership of around 30 000 people. It covers local and international events relating their significance to the lives of Italians living in Sydney.

31. 94 - 98 Catherine Street, Mackenzie and Prospect Street, St. Fiacre Church (the San Francesco Italian Association and the Capuchins in Leichhardt) 
32. War memorial dedicated 

33. 102 Norton Street, Platino Restaurant Restaurent
34. 2/106 Norton Street,  De Luca - La Cremeria, Gelato Shop
35. 1/110 Norton Street, Sydney Permanent Make-up Centre, Beauty Salon
36. 2/110 Norton Street, Like Hart Beauty & Nails, Beauty Salon
37. 112 Norton Street, Valleverde, Shoe sales
38. 120 Norton Street, V. Cammareri Travel Agent, Travel Agent
39. 125 Norton Street,  Monleleone Brothers, Footwear Retailers
40. 126 Norton Street, Café Gioia, Pizza Restaurant
41. 127 Norton Street, Eureka, Liquor Outlet
42. 128-130 Norton Street, Mezzapica Continental, Cakes Bakery

43. 131 Norton Street, Fruit Barn, Greengrocer
44. 158 Norton Street,  Café Jolly, Café/Restaurant
45. 159 Norton Street, Elio, Restaurant
46. 160 Norton Street, Claire Hair, Studio Hairdresser
47. 165 Norton Street, Le Poca Café
48. 166 Norton Street, Portofino, Food Outlet
49. 167a Norton Street, La Gardenia Baby & Children's Wear, Baby 
50. 169 Norton Street, Bar Italia

51. 182 Norton Street, Buon Appetito

52. 186 Norton Street, Il Cugino Pizzeria 

53. Associazione Polisportiva Italo Australiana (APIA)

54. The APIA was intended to cater for members of the Italian community regardless of specific regional origins. It was founded in 1954.

55. Commitato Assistenza Italiani (CO.AS.IT). The Italian Welfare Committee, was set up in 1968 under the auspices of the Italian Consular General in Sydney after an Italian law was passed giving Italian Consuls overseas the right to establish welfare and educational committees for Italian immigrants. This organisation has been integral to the provision of services related to education, health, child care and the care of ageing Italian-Australians. 
56. 190-196 Norton Street, N & T Lucchitti Deli & Liquor Store 
57. 289 Parramatta Road, Olympia World Travel, Travel Agent

58. 327 Parramatta Road, Castorina & Sons Pty Ltd, Butcher
59. 351 Parramatta Road, Kitchenware Hospitality, Supplies Kitchenware 
60. 355 Parramatta Road, John Vitt First National, Real Estate 

61. 361 Parramatta Road, L & M Santoro, Delicatessen

62. 363 Parramatta Road, MM Mangraviti Optometrist

63. 375 Parramatta Road Aldo's Meats, Butcher

64. 379 Parramatta Road, Luck Tom Homewares

65. 381 Parramatta Road, Mancuso Biscuits, Biscuit maker 

66. 395 Parramatta Road, Bar Via Veneto, Café

67. 397 Parramatta Road, Pan Roma

68. 401 Parramatta Road, Pasta House Factory 
69. 405 Parramatta Road, Gerard Harding, Real Estate
70. 409 Parramatta Road. Tiles at Leichhardt. Pioneer Concrete Ceramic/tile shop. The Pioneer Concrete set up by Tristan Antico in 1950, has a high concentration of Italian men in the building industry (three times that of the general population in 1981). It reflects the impact of chain migration on employment, as many established Italians gave work to their newly arrived compatriots. It also demonstrates the appreciation by many Italians in Australia of the opportunities for self-employment within the building industry.
71. 415 Parramatta Road, La Bomboniera Factory
72. 433 Parramatta Road, Silvio Delicatessen
73. 435-437 Parramatta Road, Napoli in Bocca (La Rustica) Restaurant
